
406

20 CFR Ch. V (4–1–01 Edition)§ 645.525

submit quality project plans (section
403(a)(5)(B)(i) and (iii)).

§ 645.525 What special consideration
will be given to rural areas and cit-
ies with large concentrations of
poverty?

(a) Competitive grant awards will be
targeted to geographic areas of signifi-
cant need. In developing application
procedures, special consideration will
be given to rural areas and cities with
large concentrations of residents living
in poverty.

(b) Grant application guidelines will
clarify specific requirements for docu-
menting need in the local area (section
403(a)(5)(B)(iv)).

Subpart F—Administrative Appeal
Process

§ 645.800 What administrative rem-
edies are available under this Part?

(a) Within 21 days of receipt of a final
determination that has directly im-
posed a sanction or corrective action
pursuant to § 645.250(b) of this part, a
recipient, subrecipient, or a vendor di-
rectly against which the Grant Officer
has imposed a sanction or corrective
action, may request a hearing before
the Department of Labor Office of Ad-
ministrative Law Judges, pursuant to
the provisions of 29 CFR part 96 sub-
part 96.6.

(b) In accordance with 29 CFR
96.603(b)(2), the rules of practice and
procedure published at 29 CFR part 18
shall govern the conduct of hearings
under this section, except that a re-
quest for hearing under this section
shall not be considered a complaint to
which the filing of an answer by DOL
or a DOL agency is required. Technical
rules of evidence shall not apply to a
hearing conducted pursuant to this
part; however, rules or principles de-
signed to assure production of the most
credible evidence available and to sub-
ject testimony to cross-examination
shall apply.

(c) The decision of the Administra-
tive Law Judge (ALJ) shall constitute
final agency action unless, within 20
days of the decision, a party dissatis-
fied with the decision of the ALJ has
filed a petition for review with the Ad-
ministrative Review Board (ARB) (es-

tablished pursuant to the provisions of
Secretary’s Order No. 2–96, published at
61 FR 19977 (May 3, 1996)), specifically
identifying the procedure, fact, law or
policy to which exception is taken.
Any exception not specifically urged
shall be deemed to have been waived. A
copy of the petition for review must be
sent to the opposing party at that
time. Thereafter, the decision of the
ALJ shall constitute final agency ac-
tion unless the ARB, within 30 days of
the filing of the petition for review, has
notified the parties that the case has
been accepted for review. Any case ac-
cepted by the ARB shall be decided
within 120 days of such acceptance. If
not so decided, the decision of the ALJ
shall constitute final agency action.

EFFECTIVE DATE NOTE: At 66 FR 2711, Jan.
11, 2001, Part 645 was revised, effective Feb-
ruary 12, 2001. At 66 FR 9763, Feb. 12, 2001, the
effective date of this revision was delayed
until April, 13, 2001. For the convenience of
the user, the superseded text is set forth as
follows:

PART 645—PROVISIONS GOVERNING
WELFARE-TO-WORK GRANTS

Subpart A—Scope and Purpose

Sec.
645.100 What does this subpart cover?
645.110 What are the purposes of the Wel-

fare-to-Work program?
645.120 What definitions apply to this part?

Subpart B—General Program and Administrative
Requirements

645.200 What does this subpart cover?
645.210 What is meant by the terms ‘‘enti-

ty’’ and ‘‘project’’ in the statutory
phrase ‘‘an entity that operates a
project’’ with Welfare-to-Work funds?

645.211 How must Welfare-to-Work funds be
spent by the operating entity?

645.212 Who may be served as a hard-to-em-
ploy individual under the 70 percent pro-
vision?

645.213 Who may be served as an individual
with long-term welfare dependence char-
acteristics under the 30 percent provi-
sion?

645.214 How will Welfare-to-Work partici-
pant eligibility be determined?

645.220 What activities are allowable under
this part?

645.225 How do Welfare-to-Work activities
relate to activities provided through
TANF and other related programs?

645.230 What general fiscal and administra-
tive rules apply to the use of Federal
funds?
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645.233 What are the time limitations on the
expenditure of Welfare-to-Work grant
funds?

645.235 What types of activities are subject
to the administrative cost limit on Wel-
fare-to-Work grants?

645.240 What are the reporting requirements
for Welfare-to-Work programs?

645.245 Who is responsible for oversight and
monitoring of Welfare-to-Work grants?

645.250 What procedures apply to the resolu-
tion of findings arising from audits, in-
vestigations, monitoring, and oversight
reviews?

645.255 What nondiscrimination protections
apply to participants in Welfare-to-Work
programs?

645.260 What health and safety provisions
apply to participants in Welfare-to-Work
programs?

645.265 What safeguards are there to ensure
that participants in Welfare-to-Work em-
ployment activities do not displace other
employees?

645.270 What procedures are there to ensure
that currently employed workers may
file grievances regarding displacement
and that Welfare-to-Work participants in
employment activities may file griev-
ances regarding displacement, health and
safety standards and gender discrimina-
tion?

Subpart C—Additional Formula Grant
Administrative Standards and Procedures

645.300 What constitutes an allowable
match?

645.310 What assurance must a State pro-
vide that it will make the required
matching expenditures?

645.315 What actions are to be taken if a
State fails to make the required match-
ing expenditures?

645.320 When will formula funds be reallot-
ted, and what reallotment procedures
will the Secretary use?

Subpart D—State Formula Grants Administration

645.400 Under what conditions may the Gov-
ernor request a waiver to designate an
alternate local administering agency?

645.410 What elements will the State use in
distributing funds within the State?

645.415 What planning information must a
State submit in order to receive a for-
mula grant?

645.420 What factors will be used in meas-
uring State performance?

645.425 What are the roles and responsibil-
ities of the State(s) and PIC(s)?

Subpart E—Welfare-to-Work Competitive Grants

645.500 Who are eligible applicants for com-
petitive grants?

645.510 What is the required consultation
with the Governor?

645.515 What are the program and adminis-
trative requirements that apply to both
the formula grants and competitive
grants?

645.520 What are the application procedures
and timeframes for competitive grant
funds?

645.525 What special consideration will be
given to rural areas and cities with large
concentrations of poverty?

Subpart F—Administrative Appeal Process

645.800 What administrative remedies are
available under this part?

AUTHORITY: 42 U.S.C. 606(a)(5)(C)(viii).

SOURCE: 62 FR 61603, Nov. 18, 1997, unless
otherwise noted.

Subpart A—Scope and Purpose
§ 645.100 What does this subpart cover?

(a) Subpart A establishes regulatory provi-
sions that apply to the Welfare-to-Work
(WtW) programs conducted at the State and
at the Service Delivery Area (SDA) levels.

(b) Subpart B provides general program re-
quirements applicable to all WtW formula
funds. The provisions of this subpart govern
how WtW funds must be spent, who is eligi-
ble to participate in the program, allowable
activities and their relationship to TANF,
Governor’s projects for long-term recipients,
administrative and fiscal provisions, and
program oversight requirements. This sub-
part also addresses worker protections and
the establishment of a State grievance sys-
tem.

(c) Subpart C sets forth additional admin-
istrative standards and procedures for WtW
Formula Grants, such as matching require-
ments and reallotment procedures.

(d) Subpart D sets forth the conditions
under which the Governor may request a
waiver to designate an alternate admin-
istering agency, sets forth the formula ele-
ments that must be included in the within-
State distribution formula, the submission
of a State annual plan, the factors for meas-
uring State performance, and the roles and
responsibilities of the States and the Private
Industry Councils (PICs).

(e) Subpart E outlines general conditions
and requirements for the WtW Competitive
Grants.

(f) Regulatory provisions applicable to the
Indian and Native American Welfare-to-
Work Program (INA WtW) are found at 20
CFR part 646.

§ 645.110 What are the purposes of the Wel-
fare-to-Work Program?

The purposes of the WtW program are:
(a) To facilitate the placement of hard-to-

employ welfare recipients into transitional
employment opportunities which will lead to
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lasting unsubsidized employment and self-
sufficiency;

(b) To provide a variety of activities,
grounded in TANF’s ‘‘work first’’ philos-
ophy, to prepare individuals for, and to place
them in, lasting unsubsidized employment;

(c) To provide for a variety of post-employ-
ment and job retention services which will
assist the hard-to-employ welfare recipient
to secure lasting unsubsidized employment;

(d) To provide targeted WtW funds to high
poverty areas with large numbers of hard-to-
employ welfare recipients.

§ 645.120 What definitions apply to this
part?

The following definitions apply under this
part:

Act means Title IV, Part A of the Social
Security Act, 42 U.S.C. 601–619.

Adult means an individual who is not a
minor child.

Chief Elected Official(s) (CEOs) means:
(1) The chief elected official of the sole

unit of general local government in the serv-
ice delivery area,

(2) The individual or individuals selected
by the chief elected officials of all units of
general local government in such area as
their authorized representative, or

(3) In the case of a service delivery area
designated under section 101(a)(4)(A)(iii) of
JTPA, the representative of the chief elected
official for such area (as defined in section
4(4)(C) of JTPA).

Competitive Grants means those WtW funds
awarded by the Department under a competi-
tive application process to local govern-
ments, PICs, and private entities (such as
community development corporations, com-
munity-based and faith-based organizations,
disability community organizations, and
community action agencies) who apply in
conjunction with a PIC or local government.

Department or DOL means the U.S. Depart-
ment of Labor.

Employment activities means the activities
enumerated at § 645.220(b).

ETA means the Employment and Training
Administration of the U.S. Department of
Labor.

Fiscal year (FY) means any 12-month period
ending on September 30 of a calendar year.

Formula grants means the WtW funds allot-
ted to each Welfare-to-Work State, based on
a formula prescribed by the Act, which
equally considers States’ shares of the na-
tional number of poor individuals and of
adult recipients of assistance under TANF.
The State is required to distribute not less
than 85 percent of the allotted formula grant
funds to service delivery areas in the State;
and the State may retain not more than 15
percent for projects to help long-term recipi-
ents of assistance enter unsubsidized em-
ployment. Unless otherwise specified, the

term ‘‘formula grant’’ refers to the 85 per-
cent and 15 percent funds.

Governor means the Chief Executive Officer
of a State.

Job Training Partnership Act or JTPA means
Public Law (Pub. L.) 97–300, as amended, 29
U.S.C. 1501, et seq.

Minor child means an individual who has
not attained 18 years of age; or has not at-
tained 19 years of age and is a full-time stu-
dent in a secondary school (or in the equiva-
lent level of vocational or technical train-
ing).

MOE means maintenance of effort. Under
TANF, States are required to maintain a cer-
tain level of spending on welfare based on
‘‘historic’’ FY 1994 expenditure levels (Sec-
tion 409 (a)(7) of the Act).

PIC means a Private Industry Council es-
tablished under Section 102 of the Job Train-
ing Partnership Act, which performs the
functions authorized at Section 103 of the
JTPA.

PRWORA means the Personal Responsi-
bility and Work Opportunity Reconciliation
Act of 1996, Public Law (Pub. L.) 104–193,
which established the TANF program.

SDA means a service delivery area des-
ignated by the Governor pursuant to section
101(a)(4) of the Job Training Partnership Act.

Secretary means the Secretary of Labor.
Separate State program means a program op-

erated outside of TANF in which the expend-
itures of State funds may count for TANF
MOE purposes.

State means the 50 States of the United
States, the District of Columbia, the Com-
monwealth of Puerto Rico, the US Virgin Is-
lands, Guam, and American Samoa, unless
otherwise specified.

State TANF Program means those funds ex-
pended under the State Family Assistance
Grant (SFAG), the basic block grant allo-
cated to the States under Section 403(a)(1) of
the Act.

TANF means Temporary Assistance for
Needy Families Program established under
PRWORA.

TANF MOE means the expenditure of State
funds that must be made in order to meet
the Temporary Assistance for Needy Fami-
lies Maintenance of Effort requirement.

WtW means Welfare-to-Work.
WtW State means those States that the

Secretary of Labor determines have met the
five conditions established at Section
403(a)(5)(A)(ii) of the Act. Only States that
are determined to be WtW States can receive
WtW grant funds.

WtW statute means those provisions of the
Balanced Budget Act of 1997 containing cer-
tain amendments to PRWORA and estab-
lishing the new Welfare-to-Work program,
amending Title IV of the Social Security
Act, (codified at 42 U.S.C. 601–619).
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Subpart B—General Program and
Administrative Requirements

§ 645.200 What does this subpart cover?
This subpart provides general program and

administrative requirements for WtW for-
mula funds, including Governors’ funds for
long-term recipients of assistance, and for
competitive grant funding (section 403(a)(5)
of the Act).

§ 645.210 What is meant by the terms ‘‘enti-
ty’’ and ‘‘project’’ in the statutory phrase
‘‘an entity that operates a project’’ with
Welfare-to-Work funds?

The terms entity and project, in the statu-
tory phrase ‘‘an entity that operates a
project’’, means:

(a) For WtW substate formula funds:
(1) Entity; means the PIC (or the alternate

agency designated by the Governor and ap-
proved by the Secretary pursuant to § 645.400
of this part) which administers the WtW sub-
state formula funds in a service delivery
area(s). This entity is referred to in §§ 645.211
through 645.225 of this part as the ‘‘operating
entity.’’

(2) Project means all activities, administra-
tive and programmatic, supported by the
total amount of the WtW substate formula
funds allotted to the entity described in
paragraph (a)(1) of this section.

(b) For WtW Governors’ funds for long-
term recipients of assistance:

(1) Entity means the agency, group, or or-
ganization to which the Governor has dis-
tributed any of the funds for long-term re-
cipients of assistance, as described in § 645.410
(b) and (c) of this part. This entity is referred
to in §§ 645.211 through 645.225 of this part as
the ‘‘operating entity.’’

(2) Project means all activities, administra-
tive and programmatic, supported by the
total amount of one discrete award of WtW
Governors’ funds for long-term recipients of
assistance awarded to the entity described in
paragraph (b)(1) of this section.

(c) For competitive WtW funds:
(1) Entity means an eligible applicant, as

described in § 645.500 of this part, which is
awarded a competitive WtW grant. This enti-
ty is referred to in §§ 645.211 through 645.225
of this part as the ‘‘operating entity.’’

(2) Project means all of the activities, ad-
ministrative and programmatic, supported
by the total amount of one discrete WtW
competitive grant awarded to the entity de-
scribed in paragraph (c)(1) of this section
(section 403(a)(5)(C) of the Act).

§ 645.211 How must Welfare-to-Work funds
be spent by the operating entity?

(a) At least 70 percent of the WtW funds al-
lotted to or awarded to an operating entity,
as described in § 645.210 of this part, must be
spent to benefit hard-to-employ individuals,
as described in § 645.212 of this part.

(b) Not more than 30 percent of the WtW
funds allotted to or awarded to an operating
entity, as described in § 645.210 of this part,
may be spent to assist individuals with long-
term welfare dependence characteristics, as
described in § 645.213 of this part. If less than
30 percent of the funds is spent to assist indi-
viduals with long-term welfare dependence
characteristics, the remaining funds shall be
spent to benefit hard-to-employ individuals
pursuant to paragraph (a) of this section
(section 403(a)(5)(C)of the Act).

§ 645.212 Who may be served as a hard-to-
employ individual under the 70 percent
provision?

(a) An individual is eligible to be served
under the 70 percent provision if (s)he meets
all three of the criteria listed in paragraphs
(a)(1), (2), and (3) of this section:

(1) The individual is receiving TANF as-
sistance; and

(2) Barriers to employment—at least two of
the three following barriers to employment
must apply to the individual:

(i) Has not completed secondary school or
obtained a certificate of general equivalency,
and has low skills in reading or mathe-
matics. At least 90 percent of individuals de-
termined to have low skills in reading or
mathematics must be proficient at the 8.9
grade level or below.

(ii) Requires substance abuse treatment for
employment.

(iii) Has a poor work history. At least 90
percent of individuals determined to have a
poor work history must have worked no
more than 3 consecutive months in the past
12 calendar months; and

(3) Length of receipt of TANF assistance—
the individual must be a long-term recipient,
meeting one of the following two criteria:

(i) Has received assistance under a State
TANF program, and/or its predecessor pro-
gram, for at least 30 months. The months do
not have to be consecutive; or

(ii) Will become ineligible for assistance
within 12 months due to either Federal or
State-imposed durational time limits on re-
ceipt of TANF assistance. This includes indi-
viduals who have been exempted from the
durational limits due to hardship pursuant
to section 408(a)(7)(C) of the Act, but would
face termination within 12 months without
the exemption.

(b) A noncustodial parent of a minor is eli-
gible to participate under the 70 percent pro-
vision if the custodial parent meets the eligi-
bility requirements of paragraph (a) of this
section.

(c) An individual who has barriers to em-
ployment, as specified in paragraph (a)(2) of
this section, and who would be otherwise eli-
gible to receive TANF assistance but is no
longer receiving TANF assistance because
(s)he has reached either the Federal five-
year lifetime limit on receipt of assistance,
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or a State-imposed lifetime limit, is eligible
to participate under the 70 percent provision
(section 403(a)(5)(C) of the Act).

§ 645.213 Who may be served as an indi-
vidual with long-term welfare depend-
ence characteristics under the 30 percent
provision?

(a) An individual is eligible to be served
under the 30 percent provision if (s)he meets
both criteria listed in paragraphs (a)(1) and
(2) of this section:

(1) The individual is receiving TANF as-
sistance; and

(2) The individual has characteristics asso-
ciated with, or predictive of, long-term wel-
fare dependence, such as having dropped out
of school, teenage pregnancy, or having a
poor work history. States, in consultation
with the operating entity, may designate ad-
ditional characteristics associated with, or
predictive of, long-term welfare dependence.

(b) A noncustodial parent of a minor child
is eligible to participate under the 30 percent
provision if the noncustodial parent has the
characteristics specified in paragraph (a)(2)
of this section, and the custodial parent is
receiving TANF assistance.

(c) An individual who has characteristics
associated with, or predictive of, long-term
welfare dependence, as specified in paragraph
(a)(2) of this section, and who would be oth-
erwise eligible to receive TANF assistance
but is no longer receiving TANF assistance
because (s)he has reached either the Federal
five-year lifetime limit on receipt of assist-
ance, or a State-imposed lifetime limit, is el-
igible to participate under the 30 percent
provision (section 403(a)(5)(C) of the Act).

§ 645.214 How will Welfare-to-Work partici-
pant eligibility be determined?

(a) The operating entity, as described in
§§ 645.210(a)(1), (b)(1), and (c)(1) of this part, is
accountable for ensuring that WtW funds are
spent only on individuals eligible for WtW
projects.

(b) The operating entity must ensure that
there are mechanisms in place to determine
WtW eligibility for individuals who are re-
ceiving TANF assistance. These mechanisms:

(1) Must include arrangements with the
TANF agency to ensure that a WtW eligi-
bility determination is based on informa-
tion, current at the time of the WtW eligi-
bility determination, about whether an indi-
vidual is receiving TANF assistance, pursu-
ant to §§ 645.212(a)(1) and 645.213(a)(1) of this
part, the length of receipt of TANF assist-
ance, pursuant to § 645.212(a)(3)(i) of this
part, and when an individual may become in-
eligible for assistance pursuant to
§ 645.212(a)(3)(ii) of this part (section
403(a)(5)(A)(ii)(dd) of the Act).

(2) May include a determination of WtW
eligibility for barriers to employment, pur-
suant to § 645.212(a)(2) of this part, and for

characteristics of long-term welfare depend-
ence, pursuant to § 645.213(a)(2) of this part,
based on information collected by the oper-
ating entity or the TANF agency up to six
months prior to the WtW eligibility deter-
mination.

(c) The operating entity must ensure that
there are mechanisms in place to determine
WtW eligibility for individuals who are not
receiving TANF assistance (i.e., noncustodial
parents, pursuant to §§ 645.212(b) and
645.213(b) of this part, and individuals who
have reached the time limit on receipt of
TANF, pursuant to §§ 645.212(c) and 645.213(c)
of this part). Mechanisms may include, but
are not limited to:

(1) Using staff from the operating entity to
determine eligibility;

(2) Entering into agreements with local
agencies such as the TANF agency and other
appropriate agencies which foster coordina-
tion and facilitate the exchange of eligibility
information among parties at the local level;
and/or

(3) Performing joint eligibility determina-
tion with other appropriate agencies, includ-
ing the TANF agency.

(d) Eligibility for WtW need not be redeter-
mined for an individual after the individual
begins to receive WtW services (section
403(a)(5)(C) of the Act).

§ 645.220 What activities are allowable
under this part?

Entities operating WtW projects may use
WtW funds for the following:

(a) Job readiness activities financed
through job vouchers or through contracts
with public or private providers.

(b) Employment activities which consist of
any of the following:

(1) Community service programs;
(2) Work experience programs;
(3) Job creation through public or private

sector employment wage subsidies; and
(4) On-the-job training.
(c) Job placement services financed

through job vouchers or through contracts
with public or private providers, subject to
the payment requirements at § 645.230(a)(3).

(d) Post-employment services financed
through job vouchers or through contracts
with public or private providers, which are
provided after an individual is placed in one
of the employment activities listed in para-
graph (b) of this section, or in any other sub-
sidized or unsubsidized job. Post-employ-
ment services include, but are not limited to,
such services as:

(1) Basic educational skills training;
(2) Occupational skills training;
(3) English as a second language training;

and
(4) Mentoring.
(e) Job retention services and support serv-

ices which are provided after an individual is
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1 OMB Circulars are available from: Execu-
tive Office of the President Publications

Continued

placed in a job readiness activity, as speci-
fied in paragraph (a) of this section, in one of
the employment activities, as specified in
paragraph (b) of this section, or in any other
subsidized or unsubsidized job. These serv-
ices can be provided with WtW funds only if
they are not otherwise available to the par-
ticipant. Job retention and support services
include, but are not limited to, such services
as:

(1) Transportation assistance;
(2) Substance abuse treatment (except that

WtW funds may not be used to provide med-
ical treatment);

(3) Child care assistance;
(4) Emergency or short term housing as-

sistance; and
(5) Other supportive services.
(f) Individual development accounts which

are established in accordance with section
404 (h) of the Act.

(g) Intake, assessment, eligibility deter-
mination, development of an individualized
service strategy, and case management may
be incorporated in the design of any of the
allowable activities listed in paragraphs (a)
through (f) of this section (section
403(a)(5)(C) of the Act).

§ 645.225 How do Welfare-to-Work activities
relate to activities provided through
TANF and other related programs?

(a) Activities provided through WtW must
be coordinated effectively at the State and
local levels with activities being provided
through TANF (section 403(a)(5)(A)(vii)(II) of
the Act).

(b) The operating entity must ensure that
there is an assessment of skills, prior work
experience, employability, and other rel-
evant information in place for each WtW
participant. Where appropriate, the assess-
ment performed by the TANF agency or
JTPA should be used for this purpose.

(c) The operating entity must ensure that
there is an individualized strategy for transi-
tion to unsubsidized employment in place for
each participant which takes into account
participant assessments, including the TANF
assessment and any JTPA assessment.
Where appropriate, the TANF individual re-
sponsibility plan (IRP) or JTPA individual
service strategy should be used for this pur-
pose.

(d) Coordination of resources should in-
clude not only those available through WtW
and TANF grant funds, and the Child Care
and Development Block Grant, but also
those available through other related activi-
ties and programs such as the JTPA pro-
grams, the State employment service, One-
Stop systems, private sector employers,
labor organizations, business and trade asso-
ciations, education agencies, housing agen-
cies, community development corporations,
transportation agencies, community-based
and faith-based organizations, disability

community organizations, community ac-
tion agencies, and colleges and universities
which provide some of the assistance needed
by the targeted population (section
402(a)(5)(A) of the Act).

§ 645.230 What general fiscal and adminis-
trative rules apply to the use of Federal
funds?

(a) Uniform fiscal and administrative require-
ments. (1) State, local, and Indian tribal gov-
ernment organizations are required to follow
the common rule Uniform Administrative Re-
quirements for Grants and Cooperative Agree-
ments to State and Local Governments which is
codified in the DOL regulations at 29 CFR
part 97.

(2) Institutions of higher education, hos-
pitals, and other non-profit organizations are
required to follow OMB Circular A–110 which
is codified in the DOL regulations at 29 CFR
part 95.

(3) In addition to the requirements at 29
CFR 95.48 and 29 CFR 97.36(i), contracts or
vouchers for job placement services sup-
ported by funds provided for this program
must include a provision to require that at
least one-half (1⁄2) of the payment occur after
an eligible individual placed into the work-
force has been in the workforce for six (6)
months. This provision applies only to place-
ment in unsubsidized jobs (section
403(a)(5)(C)(i) of the Act).

(4) In addition to the requirements at 29
CFR 95.42 and 29 CFR 97.36(b)(3) which ad-
dress codes of conduct and conflict of inter-
est issues related to employees, it is also re-
quired that:

(i) A PIC member shall neither cast a vote
on, nor participate in, any decision making
capacity on the provision of services by such
member (or any organization which that
member directly represents), nor on any
matter which would provide any direct fi-
nancial benefit to that member or a member
of his immediate family.

(ii) Neither membership on the PIC nor the
receipt of WtW funds to provide training and
related services shall be construed, by itself,
to violate these conflict of interest provi-
sions.

(5) The addition method shall be required
for the use of all program income earned
under WtW grants. The cost of generating
program income shall be subtracted from the
amount earned to establish the amount of
program income available for use under the
grants.

(b) Audit requirements. All governmental
and non-profit organizations are required to
follow the audit requirements of OMB Cir-
cular A–133.1 This requirement is imposed at
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Service, 725 17th Street NW, Suite G–2200,
Washington, DC 20503; 202–395–7332.

29 CFR 97.26 for governmental organizations
and at 29 CFR 95.26 for institutions of higher
education, hospitals, and other non-profit or-
ganizations.

(c) Allowable costs/cost principles. The DOL
regulations at 29 CFR 95.27 and 29 CFR 97.22
identify the Federal principles for deter-
mining allowable costs which each kind of
recipient and subrecipient must follow. For
those selected items of cost requiring prior
approval, the authority to grant or deny ap-
proval is delegated to the Governor.

(1) State, local, and Indian tribal govern-
ment organizations must determine allow-
ability of costs in accordance with the provi-
sions of OMB Circular A–87, ‘‘Cost Principles
for State and Local Governments.’’

(2) Non-profit organizations must deter-
mine allowability of costs in accordance
with OMB Circular A–122, ‘‘Cost Principles
for Non-Profit Organizations.’’

(3) Institutions of higher education must
determine allowability of costs in accord-
ance with OMB Circular A–21, ‘‘Cost Prin-
ciples for Education Institutions.’’

(4) Hospitals must determine allowability
of costs in accordance with the provisions of
appendix E of 45 CFR part 74, ‘‘Principles for
Determining Costs Applicable to Research
and Development Under Grants and Con-
tracts with Hospitals.’’

(5) Commercial organizations and those
non-profit organizations listed in Attach-
ment C to OMB Circular A–122 must deter-
mine allowability of costs in accordance
with the provisions of the Federal Acquisi-
tion Regulation (FAR), at 48 CFR part 31.

(d) Government-wide debarment and suspen-
sion, and government-wide drug-free workplace
requirements. All WtW grant recipients and
subrecipients are required to comply with
the government-wide requirements for de-
barment and suspension, and the govern-
ment-wide requirements for a drug-free
workplace which are codified in the DOL reg-
ulations at 29 CFR part 98.

(e) Restrictions on lobbying. All WtW grant
recipients and subrecipients are required to
comply with the restrictions on lobbying
which are codified in the DOL regulations at
29 CFR part 93.

(f) Nondiscrimination. All WtW grant recipi-
ents and subrecipients are required to com-
ply with the nondiscrimination provisions
which are codified in the DOL regulations at
29 CFR parts 31 and 32. In addition, recipi-
ents of WtW grants who are also recipients
under JTPA are required to comply with 20
CFR part 34. For purposes of this paragraph,
the term ‘‘recipient’’ has the same meaning
as the term is defined in 29 CFR parts 31, 32,
and 34. Participant rights related to non-

discrimination may be found at § 645.255 of
this part.

(g) Nepotism. (1) No individual may be
placed in a WtW employment activity if a
member of that person’s immediate family is
engaged in an administrative capacity for
the employing agency.

(2) To the extent that an applicable State
or local legal requirement regarding nepo-
tism is more restrictive than this provision,
such State or local requirement shall be fol-
lowed.

§ 645.233 What are the time limitations on
the expenditure of Welfare-to-Work grant
funds?

(a) Formula grant funds. The maximum
time limit for the expenditure of a given fis-
cal year allotment is three years from the ef-
fective date of the Federal grant award to
the State. The maximum time limit will be
allowed and will be specified in the Depart-
ment’s formula grant document for each fis-
cal year of funds provided to the State. Any
remaining funds that have not been expended
at the end of the expenditure period must be
returned to the Department in accordance
with the applicable closeout procedures for
formula grants.

(b) Competitive grant funds. The maximum
time limit for the expenditure of these funds
is three years from the effective date of
award, but will, in all cases, be determined
by the grant period and the terms and condi-
tions specified in the Federal grant award
agreement (including any applicable grant
modification documents). Any remaining
funds that have not been expended at the end
of the approved grant period must be re-
turned to the Department in accordance
with the applicable closeout procedures for
competitive grants (section 503(a)(5)(C)(vii)
of the Act).

§ 645.235 What types of activities are subject
to the administrative cost limit on Wel-
fare-to-Work grants?

(a) Administrative cost limitation (section
404(b)(1)). (1) Formula grants to States. Expend-
itures for administrative purposes under
WtW formula grants to States are limited to
fifteen percent (15%) of the grant award.

(2) Competitive grants. The limitation on ex-
penditures for administrative purposes under
WtW competitive grants will be specified in
the grant agreement but in no case shall the
limitation be more than fifteen percent
(15%) of the grant award.

(b) The costs of administration are that al-
locable portion of necessary and allowable
costs associated with the overall manage-
ment and administration of the WtW pro-
gram and which are not directly related to
the provision of services to participants.
These costs can be both personnel and non-
personnel and both direct and indirect. Costs
of administration shall include:
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(1) Except as provided in paragraph (c)(1) of
this section, costs of salaries, wages, and re-
lated costs of the recipient’s, subrecipient’s
or PIC’s staff engaged in:

(i) Overall program management, program
coordination, and general administrative
functions, including the salaries and related
costs of the executive director, WtW direc-
tor, project director, personnel officer, fiscal
officer/bookkeeper, purchasing officer, sec-
retary, payroll/insurance/property clerk and
other costs associated with carrying out ad-
ministrative functions;

(ii) Preparing program plans, budgets,
schedules, and amendments thereto;

(iii) Monitoring of programs, projects, sub-
recipients, and related systems and proc-
esses;

(iv) Procurement activities, including the
award of specific subgrants, contracts, and
purchase orders;

(v) Providing State or local officials and
the general public with information about
the program (public relations);

(vi) Developing systems and procedures, in-
cluding management information systems
(except as provided in paragraph (c)(3) of this
section), for assuring compliance with pro-
gram requirements;

(vii) Preparing reports and other docu-
ments related to the program requirements;

(viii) Coordinating the resolution of audit
findings;

(ix) Evaluating program results against
stated objectives; and

(x) Performing administrative services, in-
cluding such services as general legal serv-
ices, accounting services, audit services; and
managing purchasing, property, payroll, and
personnel;

(2) Except as provided at paragraph (c)(3) of
this section, costs for goods and services re-
quired for administration of the program, in-
cluding such goods and services as rental or
purchase of equipment, utilities, office sup-
plies, postage, and rental and maintenance of
office space;

(3) The costs of organization-wide manage-
ment functions; and

(4) Travel costs incurred for official busi-
ness in carrying out program management or
administrative activities.

(5) These Interim Final WtW regulations
adopt the description of the term ‘‘Adminis-
trative Costs’’ found in the JTPA regula-
tions at 29 CFR 627.440 to minimize the bur-
den on PICs. The Secretary reserves the
right to change the definition to be con-
sistent with the TANF definition when final
TANF regulations are issued.

(c) Other cost classification guidance. (1) Per-
sonnel and related non-personnel costs of the
recipient’s or subrecipient’s staff, including
project directors, who perform both adminis-
trative and programmatic services or activi-
ties may be allocated to the benefitting cost
objectives/categories based on documented

distributions of actual time worked or other
equitable cost allocation methods.

(2) Indirect or overhead costs normally
shall be charged to administration, except
that specific costs charged to an overhead or
indirect cost pool that can be identified di-
rectly with a cost objective/category other
than administration may be charged to the
cost objective/category directly benefitted.
Documentation of such charges shall be
maintained.

(3) The costs of information technology—
computer hardware and software—needed for
tracking or monitoring under a WtW grant
shall not be charged to the administration of
the grant (section 404(b)(2) of the Act).

Only the costs of information technology
that is ‘‘year 2000 compliant’’ shall be allow-
able under WtW grants. To meet this re-
quirement, information technology must be
able to accurately process date/time data
(including, but not limited to, calculating,
comparing and sequencing) from, into and
between the twentieth and twenty-first cen-
turies, and the years 1999 and 2000. The infor-
mation technology must also be able to
make leap year calculations. Furthermore,
‘‘year 2000 compliant’’ information tech-
nology when used in combination with other
information technology shall accurately
process date/time data if the other informa-
tion technology properly exchanges date/
time data with it.

§ 645.240 What are the reporting require-
ments for Welfare-to-Work programs?

(a) General. All States and other direct
grant recipients shall report pursuant to in-
structions issued by DOL (financial data)
and by DHHS (participant data only). Re-
ports shall be submitted no more frequently
than quarterly within a time period specified
in the reporting instructions. In addition,
DOL will establish supplemental reporting
requirements for competitive grant recipi-
ents through the grant agreements pursuant
to § 645.515 of this part.

(b) Subrecipient reporting. A State or other
direct grant recipient may impose different
forms or formats, shorter due dates, and
more frequent reporting requirements on
subrecipients. However, the recipient is re-
quired to meet the reporting requirements
imposed by DOL and DHHS.

(c) Financial reports. Financial reports shall
be submitted to DOL by each grant recipi-
ent. Reported expenditures and program in-
come must be on the accrual basis of ac-
counting and cumulative by fiscal year of ap-
propriation. If the recipient’s accounting
records are not normally kept on the accrual
basis of accounting, the recipient shall de-
velop accrual information through an anal-
ysis of the documentation on hand.

(d) Due date. Financial reports will be due
no later than 45 days after the end of each
quarter. A final financial report is required
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90 days after the expiration of a funding pe-
riod or the termination of grant support.

(e) Optional SPIR Reporting. DOL may
also provide instructions for an optional
modified SPIR for internal program manage-
ment (section 411(a) of the Act).

§ 645.245 Who is responsible for oversight
and monitoring of Welfare-to-Work
grants?

(a) The Secretary may monitor all recipi-
ents and subrecipients of all grants awarded
and funds expended under WtW. Federal
oversight will be conducted primarily at the
State level for formula grants and at the re-
cipient level for competitive grants.

(b) The Governor shall monitor PICs (or
other approved administrative entities)
funded under the State’s formula allocated
grants on a periodic basis for compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. The
Governor shall develop and make available
for review a State monitoring plan.

§ 645.250 What procedures apply to the reso-
lution of findings arising from audits, in-
vestigations, monitoring and oversight
reviews?

(a) Resolution of subrecipient level findings.
(1) The Governor is responsible for the reso-
lution of findings that arise from the State’s
monitoring reviews, investigations and au-
dits (including OMB Circular A–133 audits) of
subrecipients.

(2) A State shall utilize the audit resolu-
tion, debt collection and appeal procedures
that it uses for other Federal grant pro-
grams.

(3) If a State does not have such proce-
dures, it shall prescribe standards and proce-
dures to be used for this grant program.

(b) Resolution of State level findings. (1) The
Secretary is responsible for the resolution of
findings that arise from federal audits, moni-
toring reviews, investigations, incident re-
ports, and recipient level OMB Circular A–133
audits.

(2) The Secretary will use the DOL audit
resolution process, consistent with the Sin-
gle Audit Act of 1996 and OMB Circular A–
133.

(3) A final determination issued by a grant
officer pursuant to this process may be ap-
pealed to the DOL Office of Administrative
Law Judges under the procedures at § 645.800.

(c) Resolution of nondiscrimination findings.
Findings arising from investigations or re-
views conducted under nondiscrimination
laws shall be resolved in accordance with
those laws and the applicable implementing
regulations.

§ 645.255 What nondiscrimination protec-
tions apply to participants in Welfare-to-
Work programs?

(a) All participants in WtW programs
under this part shall have such rights as are
available under all applicable Federal, State

and local laws prohibiting discrimination in-
cluding:

(1) The Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42
U.S.C. 6101 et seq.);

(2) Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of
1973 (29 U.S.C. 794);

(3) The Americans with Disabilities Act of
1990 (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.); and

(4) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964
(42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.).

(b) Complaints alleging discrimination in
violation of any applicable Federal, State or
local law, including those listed in paragraph
(a) of this section, shall be processed in ac-
cordance with those laws and the imple-
menting regulations.

(c) Questions about or complaints alleging
a violation of the nondiscrimination laws in
paragraph (a) of this section may be directed
or mailed to the Director, Civil Rights Cen-
ter, U.S. Department of Labor, Room N4123,
200 Constitution Avenue, NW, Washington,
DC 20210 for processing.

(d) Participants in job readiness and em-
ployment activities operated with WtW
funds, as defined in § 645.220 of this part, shall
not be discriminated against because of gen-
der. Participants alleging gender discrimina-
tion may file a complaint using the State’s
grievance system procedures as described in
§ 645.270 of this part (section 403(a)(5)(J)(iii)
of the Act).

§ 645.260 What health and safety provisions
apply to participants in Welfare-to-Work
programs?

(a) Participants in an employment activity
operated with WtW funds, as defined in
§ 645.220 of this part, are subject to the same
health and safety standards established
under State and Federal law which are appli-
cable to similarly employed employees, of
the same employer, who are not participants
in programs under WtW.

(b) Participants alleging a violation of
these health and safety standards may file a
complaint pursuant to the procedures con-
tained in § 645.270 of this part (section
403(a)(5)(J)(ii) of the Act).

§ 645.265 What safeguards are there to en-
sure that participants in Welfare-to-Work
employment activities do not displace
other employees?

(a) An adult participating in an employ-
ment activity operated with WtW funds, as
described in § 645.220 of this part, may fill an
established position vacancy subject to the
limitations in paragraph (c) of this section.

(b) An employment activity operated with
WtW funds, as described in § 645.220 of this
part, shall not violate existing contracts for
services or collective bargaining agreements.
Where such an employment activity would
violate a collective bargaining agreement,
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the appropriate labor organization and em-
ployer shall provide written concurrence be-
fore the employment activity is undertaken.

(c) An adult participating in an employ-
ment activity operated with WtW funds, as
described in § 645.220 of this part, shall not be
employed or assigned:

(1) When any other individual is on layoff
from the same or any substantially equiva-
lent job within the same organizational unit;

(2) If the employer has terminated the em-
ployment of any regular, unsubsidized em-
ployee or otherwise caused an involuntary
reduction in its workforce with the intention
of filling the vacancy so created with the
WtW participant; and,

(3) If the employer has caused an involun-
tary reduction to less than full time in hours
of any employee in the same or substantially
equivalent job within the same organiza-
tional unit.

(d) Regular employees and program par-
ticipants alleging displacement may file a
complaint pursuant to § 645.270 of this part
(section 403(a)(5)(J)(i) of the Act).

§ 645.270 What procedures are there to en-
sure that currently employed workers
may file grievances regarding displace-
ment and that Welfare-to-Work partici-
pants in employment activities may file
grievances regarding displacement,
health and safety standards and gender
discrimination?

(a) The State shall establish and maintain
a grievance procedure for resolving com-
plaints from:

(1) Regular employees that the placement
of a participant in an employment activity
operated with WtW funds, as described in
§ 645.220 of this part, violates any of the pro-
hibitions described in § 645.265 of this part;
and

(2) Program participants in an employment
activity operated with WtW funds, as de-
scribed in § 645.220 of this part, that any em-
ployment activity violates any of the prohi-
bitions described in §§ 645.255(d), 645.260, or
645.265 of this part.

(b) Such grievance procedure should in-
clude an opportunity for informal resolution.

(c) If no informal resolution can be reached
within the specified time as established by
the State as part of its grievance procedure,
such procedure shall provide an opportunity
for the dissatisfied party to receive a hearing
upon request.

(d) The State shall specify the time period
and format for the hearing portion of the
grievance procedure, as well as the time pe-
riod by which the complainant will be pro-
vided the written decision by the State.

(e) A decision by the State under para-
graph (d) of this section may be appealed by
any dissatisfied party within 30 days of the
receipt of the State’s written decision, ac-
cording to the time period and format for the

appeals portion of the grievance procedure as
specified by the State.

(f) The State shall designate the State
agency which will be responsible for hearing
appeals. This agency shall be independent of
the State or local agency which is admin-
istering, or supervising the administration of
the State TANF and WtW programs.

(g) No later than 120 days of receipt of an
individual’s original grievance, the State
agency, as designated in paragraph (f) of this
section, shall provide a written final deter-
mination of the individual’s appeal.

(h) The grievance procedure shall include
remedies for violations of §§ 645.255(d), 645.260,
and 645.265 of this part which may continue
during the grievance process and which may
include:

(1) Suspension or termination of payments
from funds provided under this part;

(2) Prohibition of placement of a WtW par-
ticipant with an employer that has violated
§§ 645.255(d), 645.260, and 645.265 of this part;

(3) Where applicable, reinstatement of an
employee, payment of lost wages and bene-
fits, and reestablishment of other relevant
terms, conditions, and privileges of employ-
ment; and

(4) Where appropriate, other equitable re-
lief (section 403(a)(5)(J)(iv) of the Act).

Subpart C—Additional Formula Grant
Administrative Standards and Pro-
cedures

§ 645.300 What constitutes an allowable
match?

(a) A State is entitled to receive two (2)
dollars of Federal funds for every one (1) dol-
lar of State match expenditures, up to the
amount available for allotment to the State
based on the State’s percentage for WtW for-
mula grant for the fiscal year. The State is
not required to provide a level of match nec-
essary to support the total amount available
to it based on the State’s percentage for
WtW formula grant. However, if the proposed
match is less than the amount required to
support the full level of federal funds, the
grant amount will be reduced accordingly
(section 403(a)(5)(A)(i)(I) of the Act).

(b) States shall follow the match or cost-
sharing requirements of the ‘‘Common Rule’’
Uniform Administrative Requirements for
Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State
and Local Governments (codified for DOL at 29
CFR 97.24). Paragraphs (b)(1) (i) and (ii),
(b)(3), (b)(4) and (c)(1) of this section are in
addition to the common rule requirements.
Also, paragraphs included in the common
rule which relate to the use of donated build-
ings and other real property as match have
been excluded from this provision.

(1) Only costs that would be allowable if
paid for with WtW grant funds will be ac-
cepted as match.
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(i) Because the use of Federal funds is pro-
hibited for construction or purchase of facili-
ties or buildings except where there is ex-
plicit statutory authority permitting it,
costs incurred for the construction or pur-
chase of facilities or buildings shall not be
acceptable as match for a WtW grant.

(ii) Because the costs of construction or
purchase of facilities or buildings are unal-
lowable as match, the donation of a building
or property as a third party in-kind con-
tribution is also unallowable as a match for
a WtW grant.

(2) A match or cost-sharing requirement
may be satisfied by either or both of the fol-
lowing:

(i) Allowable costs incurred by the grantee,
subgrantee or a cost type contractor under
the assistance agreement. This includes al-
lowable cost borne by non-Federal grants or
by others and cash donations from non-Fed-
eral third parties.

(ii) The value of third party in-kind con-
tributions applicable to the FY period to
which the cost-sharing or matching require-
ment apply.

(3) No more than one-half (1⁄2) of the total
match expenditures may be in the form of
third party in-kind contributions.

(4) Match expenditures must be recorded in
the books of account of the entity that in-
curred the cost or received the contribution.
These amounts may be rolled up and re-
ported as aggregate State level match.

(c) Qualifications and exceptions. (1) The
matching requirements may not be met by
the use of an employer’s share of participant
wage payments (e.g., employer share of OJT
wages).

(2) Costs borne by other Federal grant agree-
ments. A cost-sharing or matching require-
ment may not be met by costs borne by an-
other Federal grant. This prohibition does
not apply to income earned by a grantee or
subgrantee from a contract awarded under
another Federal grant.

(3) General revenue sharing. For the purpose
of this section, general revenue sharing
funds distributed under 31 U.S.C. 6702 are not
considered Federal grant funds.

(4) Cost or contributions counted towards
other Federal cost-sharing requirements. Nei-
ther costs nor the values of third party in-
kind contributions may count towards satis-
fying a cost-sharing or matching require-
ment of a grant agreement if they have been
or will be counted towards satisfying a cost-
sharing or matching requirement of another
Federal grant agreement, a Federal procure-
ment contract, or any other award of Fed-
eral funds.

(5) Costs financed by program income. Costs
financed by program income, as defined in 29
CFR 97.25, shall not count towards satisfying
a cost-sharing or matching requirement un-
less they are expressly permitted in the
terms of the assistance agreement. (This use

of general program income is described in
§ 97.25(g)).

(6) Services or property financed by income
earned by contractors. Contractors under a
grant may earn income from the activities
carried out under the contract in addition to
the amounts earned from the party awarding
the contract. No costs of services or property
supported by this income may count toward
satisfying a cost-sharing or matching re-
quirement unless other provisions of the
grant agreement expressly permit this kind
of income to be used to meet the require-
ment.

(7) Records. Costs and third party in-kind
contributions counting towards satisfying a
cost-sharing or matching requirement must
be verifiable from the records of grantees
and subgrantee or cost-type contractors.
These records must show how the value
placed on third party in-kind contributions
was derived. To the extent feasible, volun-
teer services will be supported by the same
methods that the organization uses to sup-
port the allocability of regular personnel
costs.

(8) Special standards for third party in-kind
contributions. (i) Third party in-kind con-
tributions count towards satisfying a cost-
sharing or matching requirement only
where, if the party receiving the contribu-
tions were to pay for them, the payments
would be allowable costs.

(ii) Some third party in-kind contributions
are goods and services that, if the grantee,
subgrantee, or contractor receiving the con-
tribution had to pay for them, the payments
would have been an indirect costs. Cost shar-
ing or matching credit for such contribu-
tions shall be given only if the grantee, sub-
grantee, or contractor has established, along
with its regular indirect cost rate, a special
rate for allocating to individual projects or
programs the value of the contributions.

(iii) A third party in-kind contribution to
a fixed-price contract may count towards
satisfying a cost-sharing or matching re-
quirement only if it results in:

(A) An increase in the services or property
provided under the contract (without addi-
tional cost to the grantee or subgrantee) or

(B) A cost savings to the grantee or sub-
grantee.

(iv) The values placed on third party in-
kind contributions for cost-sharing or
matching purposes will conform to the rules
in the succeeding sections of this part. If a
third party in-kind contribution is a type
not treated in those sections, the value
placed upon it shall be fair and reasonable.

(d) Valuation of donated services. (1) Volun-
teer services. Unpaid services provided to a
grantee or subgrantee by individuals will be
valued at rates consistent with those ordi-
narily paid for similar work in the grantee’s
or subgrantee’s organization. If the grantee
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or subgrantee does not have employees per-
forming similar work, the rates will be con-
sistent with those ordinarily paid by other
employers for similar work in the same labor
market. In either case, a reasonable amount
for fringe benefits may be included in the
valuation.

(2) Employees of other organizations. When
an employer other than a grantee, sub-
grantee, or cost-type contractor furnishes
free of charge the services of an employee in
the employee’s normal line of work, the serv-
ices will be valued at the employee’s regular
rate of pay exclusive of the employee’s fringe
benefits and overhead costs. If the services
are in a different line of work, paragraph
(d)(1) of this section applies.

(e) Valuation of third party donated supplies
and loaned equipment or space. (1) If a third
party donates supplies, the contribution will
be valued at the market value of the supplies
at the time of donation.

(2) If a third party donates the use of
equipment or space in a building but retains
title, the contribution will be valued at the
fair rental rate of the equipment or space.

§ 645.310 What assurance must a State pro-
vide that it will make the required
matching expenditures?

In its State plan, a State must provide a
written estimate of planned matching ex-
penditures and describe the process by which
the funds will be tracked and reported to en-
sure that the State meets its projected
match (section 403(a)(5)(A)(i)(I) of the Act).

§ 645.315 What actions are to be taken if a
State fails to make the required matching
expenditures?

(a) The Department will implement an an-
nual reconciliation and grant adjustment for
WtW grants.

(1) The reconciliation will be based on re-
ported match expenditures through the end
of the FY report, which is due 45 days after
the end of the fiscal year.

(2) If the end of FY report has not been re-
ceived by December 1 of that year, then the
reconciliation will be based on the most cur-
rent report received.

(b) If match expenditures do not satisfy the
requirement of the FY grant, the subsequent
FY grant amount will be reduced by the ap-
propriate corresponding amount (i.e., the
grant will reduced by two (2) dollars for each
one (1) dollar shortfall in State matching
funds).

§ 645.320 When will formula funds be real-
lotted, and what reallotment procedures
will the Secretary use?

(a) No reallotment of funds among States
will occur during FY 98;

(b) For subsequent fiscal years, a reconcili-
ation will be made during the first quarter of
the fiscal year under § 645.315 of this part to
determine whether or not a State has satis-

fied its required level of matching funds for
the prior year.

(c) If a State has failed to expend the re-
quired level of matching funds, the required
reduction in the State grant will be made
during the second quarter of the fiscal year.

(d) Also, any funds which become available
as a result of underexpenditures of required
match, or failure to obligate 100 percent of
the funds by either States or substate enti-
ties by the end of the fiscal year of the
grant, will be reallotted among qualifying
States (i.e., those which have committed a
sufficient match to qualify for additional
funds). The reallotment will occur during the
second quarter of the following fiscal year
(section 403(a)(5)(A)(i)(I) of the Act).

Subpart D—State Formula Grants
Administration

§ 645.400 Under what conditions may the
Governor request a waiver to designate
an alternate local administering agency?

(a)(1) The Governor may include in the
State’s WtW Plan a waiver request to select
an agency other than the PIC to administer
the program for one or more SDAs in a
State; or

(2) When the Governor determines the PIC,
or alternative agency, has not coordinated
its expenditures with the expenditure of
funds provided to the State under TANF,
pursuant to section 403(a)(5)(A)(vii)(II) of the
Act, the Governor shall request a waiver.

(b) The Governor shall bear the burden of
proving that the designated alternative
agency, rather than the PIC or other admin-
istering agency, would improve the effective-
ness or efficiency of the administration of
WtW funds in the SDA. The Governor’s waiv-
er request shall include information to meet
that burden. The Governor shall provide a
copy of the waiver request and any sup-
porting information submitted to the Sec-
retary to the PIC and CEO of the SDA for
which an alternative administering agency is
requested.

(c) The PIC and CEO shall have fifteen (15)
days in which to submit his or her written
response to the Department. The PIC and
CEO shall provide a copy of such response to
the Governor.

(d) The Secretary will assess the waiver in-
formation submitted by the Governor, in-
cluding input from the PIC and CEO in
reaching the decision whether to permit the
use of an alternate administrative agency.

(e) The Secretary shall approve a waiver
request if she determines that the Governor
has established that the designated alter-
native administering agency, rather than the
PIC or other administering agency, will im-
prove the effectiveness or efficiency of the
administration of WtW funds provided for
the benefit of the SDA.
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(f) Where an alternate administering agen-
cy is approved by the Secretary, such admin-
istrative entity shall coordinate with the
CEO for the applicable SDA(s) regarding the
expenditure of WtW grant funds in the
SDA(s).

(g) The decision of the Secretary to ap-
prove or deny a waiver request will be issued
promptly and shall constitute final agency
action.

§ 645.410 What elements will the State use
in distributing funds within the State?

(a) Of the WtW funds allotted to the State,
not less than 85 percent of the State allot-
ment must be distributed to the SDAs in the
State.

(1) The State shall prescribe a formula for
determining the amount of funds to be dis-
tributed to each SDA in the State using no
factors other than the three factors de-
scribed in paragraphs (a)(2) and (3) of this
section;

(2) The formula prescribed by the Governor
must include as one of the formula factors
for distributing funds the provision at sec-
tion 403(a)(5)(A)(vi)(I)(aa) of the Act. The
Governor is to distribute funds to an SDA
based on the number by which the popu-
lation of the area with an income that is less
than the poverty line exceeds 7.5 percent of
the total population of the area, compared to
all such numbers in all such areas in the
State. The Governor must assign a weight of
not less than 50 percent to this factor;

(3) The Governor shall distribute the re-
maining funds, if any, to the SDAs utilizing
only one or both of the following factors:

(i) The SDA’s share of the number of adults
receiving assistance under TANF or the
predecessor program in the SDA for 30
months or more (whether consecutive or
not), relative to the number of such adults
residing in the State;

(ii) The SDA’s share of the number of un-
employed individuals residing in the SDA,
relative to the number of such individuals
residing in the State.

(4) If the amount to be distributed to a
service delivery area by the Governor’s for-
mula is less than $100,000, the funds shall be
available to be used by the Governor to fund
projects described at paragraph (b) of this
section.

(5) States shall use the guidance provided
at section 403(a)(5)(D) of the Act in deter-
mining the number of individuals with an in-
come that is less than the poverty line.

(6) PICs (or alternate administering agen-
cy) shall determine, pursuant to section
403(a)(5)(A)(vii)(I) of the Act, on which indi-
vidual(s) and on which allowable activities
to expend its WtW fund allocation.

(7) The State shall distribute the SDAs’ al-
locations in a timely manner, but not later
than 30 days from receipt of the State’s fund
allotment.

(b) Of the funds allocated to the State, up
to 15 percent of the funds may be retained at
the State level to fund projects that appear
likely to help long-term recipients of assist-
ance enter unsubsidized employment. Any
additional funds available as a result of the
process described at paragraph (a)(4)of this
section, shall also be available to be used to
fund projects to help long-term recipients of
assistance enter unsubsidized jobs.

(c) The Governors may distribute the funds
retained pursuant to paragraph (b) of this
section to a variety of workforce organiza-
tions, in addition to PICs, and other entities
such as One-Stop systems, private sector em-
ployers, labor organizations, business and
trade associations, education agencies, hous-
ing agencies, community development cor-
porations, transportation agencies, commu-
nity-based and faith-based organizations,
disability community organizations, commu-
nity action agencies, and colleges and uni-
versities which provide some of the assist-
ance needed by the targeted population.

§ 645.415 What planning information must a
State submit in order to receive a for-
mula grant?

(a) Each State seeking financial assistance
under the formula grant portion of the WtW
legislation must submit an annual plan
meeting the requirements prescribed by the
Secretary. This plan shall be in the form of
an addendum to the TANF State plan and
shall be submitted to the Secretaries of
Labor and Health and Human Services.

(b) The Secretary shall review the State
plan for compliance with the statutory and
regulatory provisions of the WtW program.
The Secretary’s decision whether to accept a
State plan as in compliance with the Act
shall constitute final agency action.

(c) If the Governor has requested a waiver
to permit the selection of an alternative ad-
ministering agency in the State plan, the
provisions of § 645.400 of this part shall apply
(section 403(a)(5)(A)(ii) of the Act).

§ 645.420 What factors will be used in meas-
uring State performance?

(a) State performance will be measured by
a formula issued by the Secretary after con-
sultation with DHHS, the National Gov-
ernors Association (NGA) and the American
Public Welfare Association (APWA).

(b) The formula shall be the basis for meas-
uring the success of States in placing indi-
viduals in private sector employment or any
kind of employment, the duration of such
placements, any increase in earnings of such
individuals and other additional factors that
the Secretary of Labor deems to be appro-
priate. The formula will provide for adjust-
ments due to general economic conditions on
a State-by-State basis.

(c) The formula shall serve as the basis for
the award of FY 2000 bonus grants based on
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successful performance (section 403(a)(5)(E)
of the Act).

§ 645.425 What are the roles and responsibil-
ities of the State(s) and PIC(s)?

(a) State roles and responsibilities. A State:
(1) Designates State WtW administering

agency;
(2) Provides overall administration of WtW

funds, consistent with the WtW statute, WtW
regulations and the State’s WtW Plan;

(3) Develops the State WtW Plan in con-
sultation and coordination with appropriate
entities in substate areas, such as One-Stop
systems, private sector employers, labor or-
ganizations, business and trade associations,
education agencies, housing agencies, com-
munity development corporations, transpor-
tation agencies, community-based and faith-
based organizations, disability community
organizations, community action agencies,
and colleges and universities which provide
some of the assistance needed by the tar-
geted population (section
403(a)(5)(A)(ii)(I)(cc) of the Act);

(4) Distributes funds to SDAs, consistent
with the provisions described at § 645.410(a)
(section 403(a)(5)(A)(ii)(I)(bb));

(5) Conducts oversight and monitoring of
WtW activities and fund expenditures at the
State and local levels for compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, consistent
with the provisions at § 645.245 and provides
technical assistance as appropriate;

(6) Ensures coordination of PIC fund ex-
penditures with the State TANF expendi-
tures and other programs (section
403(a)(5)(A)(ii)(I)(dd));

(7) Determines whether to request waivers
to select an alternate administering agency
consistent with the provisions described at
§ 645.400 of this part (sections
403(a)(5)(A)(ii)(I)(ee) and
403(a)(5)(A)(vii)(III));

(8) Manages and distributes State level
WtW funds (15 percent), consistent with the
provisions at §§ 645.410(b) and (c) (section
403(a)(5)(A)(vi)(III));

(9) Ensures that the 15 percent administra-
tion limitation and the match requirement
are met;

(10) Ensures that worker protections provi-
sions are observed and establishes an appro-
priate grievance process, consistent with
§§ 645.255 through 645.270 of this part (section
403(a)(5)(J));

(11) Provides comments on Competitive
Grant Application(s) from eligible entities
within the State, consistent with § 645.510 of
this part (section 403(a)(5)(B)(ii));

(12) Cooperates with the Department of
Health and Human Services on the evalua-
tion of WtW programs (section
403(a)(5)(A)(ii)(III));

(13) Provides technical assistance to PICs
or alternate administering agencies; and

(14) Establishes internal reporting require-
ments to ensure Federal reports are accu-
rate, complete and are submitted on a timely
basis, consistent with § 645.240 of this part.

(b) Private Industry Council (or alternate ad-
ministering agency) roles and responsibilities. A
PIC:

(1) Has sole authority, in coordination with
CEOs, to expend formula funds (section
403(a)(5)(A)(vii)(I) of the Act);

(2) Has authority to determine the individ-
uals to be served in the SDA (section
403(a)(5)(A)(vii)(I));

(3) Has authority to determine the services
to be provided in the SDA (section
403(a)(5)(A)(vii)(I));

(4) Ensures funds are expended on eligible
recipients and on allowable activities, con-
sistent with § 645.410(a)(5) of this part;

(5) Coordinates WtW fund expenditures
with State TANF expenditures and other
programs (section 403(a)(5)(A)(ii)(dd));

(6) Ensures that there is an assessment and
an individual service strategy in place for
each WtW participant, consistent with
§§ 645.225(a) and (b) of this part;

(7) Conducts oversight and monitoring of
subrecipients, consistent with the provisions
at § 645.245 of this part;

(8) Ensures worker protection provisions
and grievance process are observed, con-
sistent with State guidelines (section
403(a)(5)(J)); and

(9) Consults with and provides comments
on private entity Competitive Grant Appli-
cation(s), consistent with the provisions at
§ 645.500(b)(1)(i) of this part.

Subpart E—Welfare-To-Work
Competitive Grants

§ 645.500 Who are eligible applicants for
competitive grants?

(a) Eligible applicants for competitive
grants are:

(1) PICs;
(2) Political subdivisions of a State; and
(3) Private entities including nonprofit or-

ganizations such as community development
corporations, community-based and faith-
based organizations, disability community
organizations, community action agencies,
and public and private colleges and univer-
sities, and other qualified private organiza-
tions.

(b) Entities other than a PIC or a political
subdivision of the State must submit an ap-
plication for competitive grant funds in con-
junction with the applicable PIC or political
subdivision.

(1) The term ‘‘in conjunction with’’ shall
mean that the application submitted by such
an entity must include a signed certification
by both the applicant and either the applica-
ble PIC or political subdivision that:
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(i) The applicant has consulted with the
applicable PIC/political subdivision during
the development of the application; and

(ii) The activities proposed in the applica-
tion are consistent with, and will be coordi-
nated with, WtW efforts of the PIC/political
subdivision.

(2) If the applicant is unable to include
such a certification in its application, the
applicant will be required to certify, and pro-
vide information indicating that efforts were
undertaken to consult with the PIC/political
subdivision and that the PIC/political sub-
division was provided a sufficient oppor-
tunity to cooperate in the development of
the project plan and to review and comment
on the application prior to its submission to
the Secretary. ‘‘Sufficient opportunity for
PIC/political subdivision review and com-
ment’’ shall mean at least 30 calendar days.

(3) The certification described in paragraph
(b)(1) of this section, or the evidence of ef-
forts to consult described in paragraph (b)(2),
must be with each PIC or political subdivi-
sion included in the geographic area in which
the project proposed in the application is to
operate (section 403(a)(5)(B)(ii) of the Act).

§ 645.510 What is the required consultation
with the Governor?

(a) All applicants for competitive grants,
including PICs and political subdivisions,
must consult with the Governor by submit-
ting their application to the Governor or the
designated State administrative entity for
the WtW program for review and comment
prior to submission of the application to the
Secretary. The application submitted to the
Secretary must include:

(1) Comments on the application from the
State; or

(2) Information indicating that the State
was provided a sufficient opportunity for re-
view and comment prior to submission to the
Secretary. ‘‘Sufficient opportunity for State
review and comment’’ shall mean at least 15
calendar days.

(b) For private entity applicants, the sub-
mission of the application for State review
and comment must follow the 30 day period
provided for PIC/political subdivision review.
Evidence of PIC/political subdivision review
should be included in the submission to the
State (section 403(a)(5)(B)(ii) of the Act).

§ 645.515 What are the program and admin-
istrative requirements that apply to both
the formula grants and competitive
grants?

(a) All of the general program require-
ments and administrative standards set by 29
CFR part 645 subpart B apply (section
403(a)(5)(C) and section 404(b) of the Act).

(b) In addition, competitive grants will be
subject to:

(1) Supplemental reporting requirements;
and

(2) Additional monitoring and oversight re-
quirements based on the negotiated scope-of-
work of individual grant awards (section
403(a)(5)(B)(iii) and (v)).

§ 645.520 What are the application proce-
dures and timeframes for competitive
grant funds?

(a) The Secretary shall establish appro-
priate application procedures, selection cri-
teria and an approval process to ensure that
grant awards accomplish the purpose of the
competitive grant funds and that available
funds are used in an effective manner.

(b) The Secretary shall publish such proce-
dures in the FEDERAL REGISTER and establish
submission timeframes in a manner that al-
lows eligible applicants sufficient time to de-
velop and submit quality project plans (sec-
tion 403(a)(5)(B)(i) and (iii) of the Act).

§ 645.525 What special consideration will be
given to rural areas and cities with large
concentrations of poverty?

(a) Competitive grant awards will be tar-
geted to geographic areas of significant need.
In developing application procedures, special
consideration will be given to rural areas
and cities with large concentrations of resi-
dents living in poverty.

(b) Grant application guidelines will clar-
ify specific requirements for documenting
need in the local area (section 403(a)(5)(B)(iv)
of the Act).

Subpart F—Administrative Appeal
Process

§ 645.800 What administrative remedies are
available under this part?

(a) Within 21 days of receipt of a final de-
termination that has directly imposed a
sanction or corrective action pursuant to
§ 645.250(b) of this part, a recipient, sub-
recipient, or a vendor directly against which
the Grant Officer has imposed a sanction or
corrective action, may request a hearing be-
fore the Department of Labor Office of Ad-
ministrative Law Judges, pursuant to the
provisions of 29 CFR part 96 subpart 96.6.

(b) In accordance with 29 CFR 96.603(b)(2),
the rules of practice and procedure published
at 29 CFR part 18 shall govern the conduct of
hearings under this section, except that a re-
quest for hearing under this section shall not
be considered a complaint to which the filing
of an answer by DOL or a DOL agency is re-
quired. Technical rules of evidence shall not
apply to a hearing conducted pursuant to
this part; however, rules or principles de-
signed to assure production of the most cred-
ible evidence available and to subject testi-
mony to cross-examination shall apply.

(c) The decision of the Administrative Law
Judge (ALJ) shall constitute final agency ac-
tion unless, within 20 days of the decision, a
party dissatisfied with the decision of the
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ALJ has filed a petition for review with the
Administrative Review Board (ARB) (estab-
lished pursuant to the provisions of Sec-
retary’s Order No. 2–96, published at 61 FR
19977 (May 3, 1996)), specifically identifying
the procedure, fact, law or policy to which
exception is taken. Any exception not spe-
cifically urged shall be deemed to have been
waived. A copy of the petition for review
must be sent to the opposing party at that
time. Thereafter, the decision of the ALJ
shall constitute final agency action unless
the ARB, within 30 days of the filing of the
petition for review, has notified the parties
that the case has been accepted for review.
Any case accepted by the ARB shall be de-
cided within 120 days of such acceptance. If
not so decided, the decision of the ALJ shall
constitute final agency action.

PART 646—PROVISIONS GOV-
ERNING THE INDIAN AND NATIVE
AMERICAN WELFARE-TO-WORK
GRANT PROGRAM

Subpart A—Introduction to Indian and Na-
tive American Welfare to Work Pro-
grams

Sec.
646.100 What is the purpose of the Indian

and Native American Welfare-to-Work
(INA WtW) Program?

646.105 What are the purposes of these regu-
lations?

646.110 What are the administrative require-
ments for the INA WtW Program?

646.115 What are the definitions which apply
uniquely to the INA WtW program?

Subpart B—Eligibility to Receive INA WtW
Grants

646.200 What entities are eligible to receive
INA WtW grants?

646.205 What entities are eligible to receive
INA WtW grants in Alaska?

646.210 Can a consortium composed of tribes
which do not operate TANF or NEW pro-
grams still receive an INA WtW grant?

646.215 How does a tribe document that it is
currently providing ‘‘substantial serv-
ices’’ to public assistance recipients?

646.220 What criteria apply to TANF/NEW
tribes regarding the provision of ‘‘sub-
stantial services’’?

646.225 If a tribe is awarded an INA WtW
grant, is the tribe required to participate
in an evaluation of the program?

Subpart C—Application for INA WtW
Grants

646.300 How does my tribe apply for an INA
WtW grant?

646.305 Can a consortium of Federally-rec-
ognized tribes apply for an INA WtW

grant on behalf of consortium members
approved to operate a TANF or NEW pro-
gram?

646.310 Some of our consortium members
operate their own TANF/NEW programs,
and some do not. Can we still apply for
an INA WtW grant as a consortium?

646.315 If our consortium members not oper-
ating TANF or NEW programs meet the
‘‘substantial services’’ criteria, do we
then have to submit two separate INA
WtW plans?

646.320 If we choose to operate a single INA
WtW program for our ‘‘mixed consor-
tium’’ for FY 1998, must we submit a sin-
gle plan to the Department for FY 1999?

646.325 What unique documentation is re-
quired of a tribal consortium?

646.330 If our tribe did not receive an INA
WtW grant for FY 1998, can we still re-
ceive funding for FY 1999?

Subpart D—Participant Eligibility, Limits,
and Allowable Activities

646.400 What TANF recipients are eligible
for services under INA WtW grants?

646.405 What activities are allowable under
the Welfare-to-Work program?

646.410 Are there any special rules gov-
erning the use of job vouchers?

646.415 What kind of ‘‘job readiness’’ serv-
ices are allowable under the INA WtW
Program?

646.420 What assistance can be provided
under the ‘‘supportive services’’ cat-
egory?

646.425 Are any education or training activi-
ties allowable under the INA WtW grant?

646.430 Are there any time limits on client
participation under the INA WtW pro-
gram?

Subpart E—Tribal Service Areas and
Populations

646.500 We’re a TANF/NEW tribe. What is
my tribe’s service area and/or population
under an INA WtW grant?

646.505 My tribe (or consortium) must qual-
ify for an INA WtW grant under the ‘‘sub-
stantial services’’ criteria. How will our
service area be determined?

646.510 Are there any special service area
provisions made for Indians residing in
Oklahoma?

Subpart F—Funding and Spending
Requirements

646.600 How will the INA WtW grant funding
allotments be determined?

646.605 What spending limitations are im-
posed on the INA WtW program?

646.610 What definition of ‘‘administration’’
is applicable to the INA WtW program?
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